
CITY OF HANOVER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

JULY 5, 2022 
 
Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance: 
Mayor Chris Kauffman called the regular meeting of Tuesday, July 5, 2022, to order at 7:01 p.m. Present 
were Councilors Jim Zajicek, Thomas Dierberger, and Mike Amery. Also present were City Engineer 
Jenn Edison, City Planner Cindy Nash, City Attorney Jay Squires, City Administrator Jennifer Nash, 
and Accountant Jackie Heinz. Absent was MaryAnn Hallstein. There were many guests present.  
 
Approval of Agenda: 
MOTION by Amery to approve the agenda, seconded by Zajicek. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
Mayor Kauffman noted the applicant proposed for appointment to Park Board is checking with his 
employer to confirm there is no conflict with his service.  With that, he suggests pulling the appointment 
until this information is available and the applicant meets with current members. 
 
MOTION by Amery to approve the consent agenda as amended, seconded by Zajicek. 

a. Approve Minutes of June 21, 2022 City Council Work Session Meeting 
b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

 Claims  $     24,416.31 
 Payroll   $     10,899.22 
 P/R taxes & Exp $       4,287.70 
 Other Claims  $       2,894.39 
 Total Claims         $     42,497.62 

c. Resolution 07-05-22-56 – Appointing Election Judges 
d. Resolution 07-05-22-57 – Approving Hire of Election Assistant 
e. Resolution 07-05-22-59 – Appointing John Gabar to Hanover Fire Dept 
f. Resolution 07-05-22-60 – Approving Variance for 317 Riverview Circle 

Motion carried unanimously. 
 

Citizen’s Forum 
 Jackie Jordheim – 1354 Irvine Drive 
Jordheim is concerned with the number of houses proposed for the Schendel Farm development. More 
traffic will be routed through her neighborhood of Esterly Oaks and Irvine. Kauffman stated the 
developer is proposing to hook up through an outlot and tonight’s meeting is only informational, nothing 
is being approved. Jordheim stated she is also supportive of the River Inn proposal 
 
 Linda Burke – 1420 Esterly Oaks Drive 
Burke stated River Inn is a standard, the restaurant was here a long time, whatever they’re asking for 
should be given to them, they deserve it.  Burke further stated River Inn supports a lot of club and teams, 
it’s not too much to ask. 
 
Public Hearing 

None  
 



Unfinished Business 
 None 
  
New Business 

Big Bore Barbecue – Resolution 07-05-22-61 – Approving Variances for Big Bore 
Big Bore Barbecue – Resolution 07-05-22-62 – Approving Site Plan for Big Bore 

Planner C. Nash stated there are two variances, Big Bore purchased the property to the East and would 
like to formalize the outside area. Big Bore, per the zoning ordinance, needs 143 parking stalls and is 
asking for a reduction to 135 stalls and parking within 10’ of the lot line. The site plan to construct an 
addition, additional parking and an outside service area are included in the packet. C. Nash also stated 
Big Bore is asking for a delay in the construction of the east parcel due to the uncertainty of the County 
Road 19 design. Amery inquired if Big Bore owns the parking along 19, C. Nash stated they own it. 
Amery inquired about the number of stalls lost due to the 19 project, C. Brink stated it depends on which 
drawing you look at. Edison stated they’re trying to accommodate all the businesses and Big Bore 
shouldn’t lose many parking stalls if any. Amery inquired if it matters that there are enough parking 
stalls, C. Brink stated people will find a way to locate parking, the post office has allowed parking after 
6:00 pm and they’ve been working with all their neighbors. Kauffman noted not everyone is always 
happy with where people park. C. Brink further stated this business started with the council and EDA; 
they didn’t expect to be this busy only a couple years in.  The addition is to accommodate more 
bathrooms and a larger prep area in the kitchen.  Council members congratulated Big Bore on their 
success. 
 
MOTION by Zajicek to approve Resolution 07-05-22-61, seconded by Dierberger. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
MOTION by Zajicek to approve Resolution 07-05-22-62, seconded by Dierberger. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 RJT Subdivision – Resolution 07-05-22-63 – Approving Rezoning of Property and PUD 
 RJT Subdivision – Resolution 07-05-22-64 – Approving Prelim/Final Plat for RJT Addition 
C. Nash stated there is a small resubdivision and rezoning to accommodate the apartment building and 
an additional residential lot, planning commission has reviewed and is recommending approval with 
contingencies. Zajicek stated there were no questions or concerns at the planning commission meeting. 
 
MOTION by Zajicek to approve Resolution 07-05-22-63, seconded by Dierberger. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
MOTION by Zajicek to approve Resolution 07-05-22-64, seconded by Dierberger. Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
 Concept Plan – Estate Development – River Road (Schendel Farm) 
C. Nash stated this is a concept plan for a partial residential / industrial area just north of the industrial 
park and south of the Esterly Oaks residential neighborhood. The main access for residents will be from 
River Road. For the industrial component, one lot is proposed for mini-storage and the second is an 
unknown industrial user at this point. C. Nash further stated in reviewing, there are a number of 
concerned residents regarding the connection to the Esterly Oaks development and fear of increased 



traffic. C. Nash stated there is no park on the concept plan, the comprehensive plan does call for one in 
this area, the developer has been asked to accommodate. The proposed developer is here and for 
questions.  
Tom Gonyea stated the upper area or residential area would be permitted in zoning for with 4 to 12 units 
per acre and the developer is proposing density on the lower end of this zoning allowance.  The southern 
area is guided in the comp plan for industrial which the developer is proposing. Gonyea further stated 
the Hanover Historical Society would like a part of the land for 50 parking stalls, they are trying to make 
that work as well.  Gonyea stated a park was brought up at the planning commission meeting, they are 
more than happy to make that work. Carla Dunham with Centra Homes, stated they are a local home 
builder out of Coon Rapids, smaller / detached homes will be most successful and will be a good 
transition between the industrial park and the Esterly Oaks neighborhood, they are also happy to explore 
a park amenity. Kauffman inquired about getting locations of current developments they have done work 
in. Dunham will email information to be shared. Dunham stated what is pictured in the packet is similar 
product but not exactly what is being proposed for this development. Kauffman inquired if they were of 
similar scale and density, Dunham stated correct. Dierberger inquired if the school has been contacted 
about capacity with so much development going on. J. Nash stated the school would like additional 
development and is looking for more numbers. Edison stated school representatives have shared in recent 
meetings that they extra capacity and would like more students.  
 
Zajicek stated the exit onto 12th Street will receive pushback, this was a big topic at the Planning 
Commission meeting, is it possible to reconfigure somehow. Edison stated there are 94 lots on the 
proposed plan, we are figuring for 2/3 of the development to use the southern entrance and 1/3 to use the 
north entrance. Zajicek inquired if 2 accesses are needed. C. Nash stated yes, it is required under fire 
code. C. Nash stated currently the roads are set to line up with roads across River Road.  
 
Squires noted an outlot off of 12th St in the Esterly Oaks neighborhood remains as it was designed for  
access to the area currently proposed for development. Burke states they were told when they moved to 
the neighborhood that it wouldn’t connect to the South. Administrator J. Nash concurred with Attorney 
Squires that documents dating back to the original Esterly Oaks development include recorded plans for 
the outlot off of 12th St to connect south for future development road connection. Kauffman inquired if 
there is anything on the master parks plan for a park in this area.  C. Nash stated yes, a playground is 
planned, but the plans are somewhat flexible for exact location and amenities. Amery asked if is there 
some type of a solution to encourage drivers to use River Road access versus traveling through the 
existing Esterly Oaks neighborhood to get access 15th St. Edison stated it’s longer and slower to go 
through Esterly, so many drivers may take the easier route accessing River Road more quickly instead 
of going through the existing neighborhood streets.  
 
Scott Tveita – 11430 12th Street NE – expressed concerns about drainage and elevations of the new 
development and how they would impact the Esterly Oaks development.  He asked that drainage plans 
be considered.   
 
Nicole Packard – 1465 Irvine Drive –  inquired if a road from Beebe Lake Road through to 8th is an 
option. Kauffman stated yes, but would be very expensive.  C. Nash stated that road wouldn’t connect 
to this development. Kauffman stated the new road is likely cost prohibitive. Burke stated 12 houses per 
acre would be a lot under the current zoning for the residential area of the property, could the developer 
reduce to fewer lots with larger homes. Gonyea noted they are proposing on the low end of density more 



around 4 units per acre rather than the 12 that zoning would allow. Kauffman stated the land is between 
industrial and residential, so this type of development may be a good transition. Kauffman noted the 
Hanover Historical Society sent a letter of support for this concept plan. Amery stated a park solution 
and entrance / exit solution is needed to get traffic going directly to River Road. Gonyea stated they 
would like to move towards the preliminary plat and inquired if they should work with the Park Board. 
Zajicek stated he would like to see some interior design samples and pictures of the product you’re 
putting in. Dunham stated the final product mix is coming. C. Nash stated the developer is proposing to 
have something for the Park Board meeting. Gonyea inquired is they should allow the Park Board to 
design. Heinz stated yes. C. Nash suggested the park should be kept way from River Road.  
 

Concept Plan – Sunram – County 20 / River Road (Bursch / Moran Properties) 
C. Nash stated the proposed concept plan is off of county road 20, southwest of town on the north and 
south sides of the road.  The south side is proposed to be low density housing and the north side 
commercial. The comprehensive plan shows a park near the tube, which is private land being used 
publicly, it’s not in the best condition. C. Nash stated there is a regional trail proposed to go through the 
area, this would be coordinated with Wright County. C. Nash stated there are concerns with speed and 
accidents in the area, mostly in the winter. Residents feel it’s fast at 55 miles per hour. Feedback at 
Planning Commission also included input looking for the north side to be rezoned to residential. Zajicek 
noted commercial land is limited, and this provides an opportunity for business growth, but he sees the 
justification for residential too. Zajicek inquired, as this sits, does this allow for lowering the speed limit. 
Edison suggested moving the 30 mile per hour sign west possibly.  
 
Amery stated he has heard from residents wanting additional commercial development including a coffee 
shop. Amery inquired if there are flooding issues south of 20. Edison stated they are addressing the flood 
plain under regulations. Jerry Hertaus stated the property was marketed and proposed with a higher 
density of housing and they are proposing 25 single family homes at this time and plan to only develop 
the south side residential initially. Hertaus stated they are very interested in a shared vision for the north 
side, lowering the speed limit would be natural.  The county has indicated a shared intersection to access 
the north and the south, there will be access to water and sewer, which will be extended at the developer’s 
expense. Hertaus stated there is a lot of accessible area for a trail on the south side, the north side would 
be better. Hertaus further stated they would like to move forward with the preliminary plat.  
 
Amery inquired about a price range. Hertaus stated they don’t know yet, the intention is for custom 
builders with different and open ideas, all custom home sites, not entry level. Kauffman stated he liked 
that idea.  
 
 Discussion of Date / Location Preferences for Road Project Open House 
J. Nash stated there is a request from WSB for an open house date besides the booth at the Hanover 
Harvest Festival. Edison suggested after further consideration, if may be better to have it after the 
festival, perhaps come back with some early September dates. Dierberger inquired if they’ve talked to 
all the businesses along 19. Edison stated they are still working to set up meetings with the strip mall 
owner on 4th street and Miller Trucking. The school likes that plan and believes it will improve their 
drop off and pick up by eliminating troublesome left turns.   
 
 
 



Discussion of August City Council Meeting Date 
Council discussion about various days during the week to move the meeting to and eliminate conflict 
with the regular meeting time and Night to Unite. 
 
MOTION by Amery to move the August Council meeting to August 4th, 2022, seconded by Dierberger. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

First Discussion – Preliminary 2023 Budget Drafting 
J. Nash noted LGA and tax capacity are not known yet and this is a first draft to start the 2023 budget 
conversation.  Kauffman inquired when the first tax payments would be received, Heinz stated on 
Thursday.  Nash asked for Council to review information provided and get feedback to staff for 
preparation of further information and future drafts for Council consideration. 
 
Reports  
Edison 

• The Planning Commission meeting brought discussion of speeds and traffic. There is a state 
statute that changed, and cities now have more authority to adjust speed limits on their roads. 
Suggested a policy formation discussion with WSB engineer at an upcoming work session.  

Heinz 
• Timecards were passed out to everyone, please return them by 10 am so payroll can be processed. 
• Concert in the park will be taking place next Tuesday with the Bryce Hegge Band performing 

from 6-8 pm. 
• Hanover Harvest Festival prep continues, things are moving along smoothly.  

J. Nash 
• DDA Human Resources will be scheduling meetings with council members.  

 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Dierberger to adjourn at 8:37 p.m., seconded by Zajicek. Motion carried unanimously. 
        

APPROVED BY: 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
        
___________________________________ 
Jennifer Nash, City Administrator 


